IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-IA-01458-SCT

INVESTOR RESOURCE SERVICES, INC., A FLORIDA CORPORATION; BARBARA ARCHULETTA MORELLI, and THE ESTATE OF BERNECE RIGIROZZI,

APPELLANTS

VS.

MARVIN CATO, CHARLES CATO, LAVERNE CATO, and RAINBOW ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

APPELLEES

ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI (Civil Action No. CI-2004-251)

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

FRED L. BANKS, JR.,
JEROME C. HAFTER,
JAMES W. CRAIG,
ELIZABETH JANE HICKS
PHELPS DUNBAR LLP
111 East Capitol Street, Suite 600
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Post Office Box 23066
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-3066
Telephone: (601) 352-2300

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred by granting Defendants' motion in limine and excluding the expert testimony of Dr. Glenda Glover, PhD., because Dr. Glover was not, at the time of her report and deposition, an actively practicing, licensed Certified Public Accountant.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred by granting Defendants' motion in limine and excluding the expert testimony of Dr. Glenda Glover, PhD, because Dr. Glover was not "an expert in derivative actions" because she testified that the individual Plaintiffs suffered damages that were compensable in this action.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs respectfully request oral argument pursuant to Miss.R.App.P. 34. This case involves complex underlying facts regarding over six years of self-dealing transactions by officers and majority shareholders of a closely held corporation. Plaintiffs listed Dr. Glenda B. Glover, Ph.D., the Dean of the Business School of Jackson State University, as an expert witness on (1) the duties owed by the directors, officers, and majority shareholders of a closely held corporation to the corporation's minority shareholders, and (2) the damages suffered by the corporation and its minority shareholders as a result of the individual Defendants/Appellees breaches of said duties, and also as a result of fraudulent misrepresentations made by them to the Minority Shareholders, the Appellants here.

Without performing any *Daubert* analysis of the substance of Dr. Glover's opinions, the Circuit Court granted the motion in limine and excluded the witness' testimony because Dr. Glover was not, at the time of her report and deposition, an actively practicing, licensed Certified Public Accountant. The Circuit Court also ruled that Dr. Glover was not "an expert in derivative actions" because she testified that the individual Plaintiffs suffered damages that were compensable in this action.

The Minority Shareholder submits that this Court's understanding of the underlying facts, and the application of the controlling case law to these facts, would be greatly facilitated by oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Proceedings

This case dates back to 2002, when the original shareholder derivative action brought by certain of the shareholders of Rainbow Entertainment, Inc. ("Rainbow") was filed. The named Plaintiffs in this case, who are also the minority shareholders of Rainbow, intervened in that action; in 2004 their Complaint in Intervention was severed from the original action, and Plaintiffs were designated to serve as representative shareholders in this derivative action.

Plaintiffs seek money damages and other relief with respect to the injuries perpetrated upon Rainbow (the nominal corporate defendant) by Marvin Cato, Charles Cato and Lavern Cato (the "Cato Defendants"). Marvin and Laverne Cato are married; Charles Cato is their son.

In their First Amended Complaint, filed by leave of the Circuit Court on March 6, 2006 (R. 5), the named Plaintiffs, on behalf of all minority shareholders of Rainbow ("Minority Shareholders"), asserted both derivative claims on behalf of Rainbow as well as direct claims on behalf of the minority shareholders individually. The Cato Defendants own approximately 60% of the shares of Rainbow's stock and have, with a few brief and minor exceptions, served as the only directors and officers of Rainbow since it was incorporated in 1993. Rainbow's only substantial asset is its 20% ownership of Greenville Riverboat, LLC, which owns and operated the Lighthouse Point Casino in Greenville, Mississippi.

The vast majority of the damages that the Plaintiffs seek to recover are the result of selfdealing by the Cato Defendants or the conferring of improper financial benefits upon themselves at the expense of Rainbow. Because the Cato Defendants are the only directors of Rainbow, any transaction between them and/or their affiliated companies and Rainbow would be a "director's conflicting interest transaction" under the Mississippi Business Corporation Act. Miss. Code Ann.§§ 79-4-8.60 et seq.

Despite extensive document discovery from Rainbow, and third party document discovery on banks, vendors, and other institutions, the Plaintiffs could not find any general ledger for the corporate accounts. To analyze these transactions, the Minority Shareholders engaged the services of Dr. Glenda Glover, Dean of the School of Business at Jackson State University ("Dr. Glover"). Dr. Glover's expert opinions are set forth in her original report of November 29, 2006, R. 152-251, and her supplemental report dated June 26, 2007. R. 321-391 ("the July 2007 Report"). She was deposed on February 28, 2007. R. 252-320 ("Glover Deposition").

Before forming any opinions, Dr. Glover had to reconstruct a "Schedule of Cash Disbursements" for Rainbow. See Schedules 6 and 6.1 to July 2007 Report, R. 363-91. This preliminary matter was necessary because Rainbow did not produce a complete general ledger or complete bank statements and cancelled checks to Plaintiffs.

From this schedule, Dr. Glover extracted more specific schedules, showing all payments made by Rainbow to Charles Cato and Marvin Cato (Schedule 3, R. 349-56), all payments made for private airplane travel (Schedule 4, R. 357-59), and all dividend payments (Schedule 5, R. 360-62).

Dr. Glover also assembled the documents setting forth Rainbow's income from Greenville Riverboat LLC, and created a schedule of that income. Schedule 2, R. 347-48.

Dr. Glover's substantive opinions encompassed the issues (1) whether the Cato

Defendants breached their duties as corporate officers, directors and Minority Shareholders of

Rainbow and (2) the quantum of damages incurred by Rainbow and its minority shareholders as a result of the actions and omissions of the Cato Defendants as majority shareholders, directors and officers of Rainbow.

Shortly before the trial scheduled for August 27, 2007, Rainbow and the Cato Defendants filed a motion in limine seeking exclusion of Dr. Glover's testimony. R. 136. The motion alleged that Dr. Glover was not qualified to be an expert in shareholders' derivative actions; it did not, however, attack the Schedules to Dr. Glover's Report. This was not unexpected, since the authenticity of the underlying documentation for all of the schedules was admitted by the Defendants. R. 408-419.

The Minority Shareholders responded in opposition to the Motion. R. 396. After hearings on August 13 and 17, 2008 R. 575-627, the Circuit Court granted the motion on grounds that (1) Dr. Glover is not qualified to testify as an expert because she has not maintained the CPA license she formerly held; (2) Dr. Glover misrepresented herself as a CPA in active practice; and (3) Dr. Glover is not qualified on the subject of "derivative actions." R. 628.

The first two of these points were not raised or briefed by Defendants in their Motion. Rather, they were injected into the motion by argument of counsel at the hearing. The documents submitted to the Court by Defendants at the August 13/17 hearing on their motion showed that Dr. Glover at one time had a CPA license in the State of Mississippi, but that she had "failed to register" after 2001 and therefore was not in "Goodstanding" with the Board of Public Accountancy. Dr. Glover has since been reinstated as a CPA in Goodstanding in Mississippi. R. 652, and Tennessee, R. 653.

After a motion to reconsider the August 20 ruling was denied by the Circuit Court, the Minority Shareholders filed their Petition for Interlocutory Appeal with this Court on August 23,

2007. Rainbow and the Cato Defendants filed their response on September 7, 2007. By Order of September 25, 2007, this Court granted review of this appeal and stayed proceedings in the Circuit Court.

B. Statement of Facts

1. History of Rainbow Entertainment, Inc. Rainbow is a closely-held Mississippi corporation. The Cato Defendants have at all times relevant to this lawsuit controlled the Board of Directors of Rainbow. Since at least 1995, they have been the only directors of Rainbow. The Cato Defendants are also the only officers of Rainbow, having elected themselves President, Vice President and Secretary, respectively. Marvin Cato has owned a controlling (approximately 60%) interest in Rainbow since its inception, although there has been some testimony that Charles Cato may have purchased all or most of his father's stock.

The history of Rainbow can be viewed as consisting of three phases: (i) April 1993 to February 1995; (ii) February 1995 to the end of 2000; and (iii) 2001 to the present. R. 468-471; 500; 502; 532-34.

Phase I: Rainbow was formed in April 1993, on the same day on which it acquired its one significant asset, a lease from Greenville Marine Corporation ("Greenville Marine") for a site on Lake Ferguson in Washington County which was suitable for building a casino. The Cato Defendants had no expertise in the gaming industry; they had to bring in other parties to assist them. These included an architect, Tom Marshall, who had designed other casino projects and who prepared plans for the casino, initially to be called the Pot-of-Gold Casino. They also included Less, Getz & Lipman, which provided construction law advice, and the former Heidelberg, Woodliff law firm, which had experience in Mississippi gaming law. Finally, they included some of the Plaintiffs here: Investor Resource Services, Inc. ("Investor Resource"),

members of the Morelli family, and others who eventually became the Minority Shareholders in Rainbow. All of these parties would become minority shareholders of Rainbow.

In combination, these third parties developed plans, located experts in operating and managing casinos and sought financing for the project. In exchange for their services, these third parties received stock in Rainbow, and in some cases, rights to additional stock. The Cato Defendants' principal contribution to Rainbow was the Greenville Marine leasehold. However, the lease was nearly terminated because the Cato Defendants failed to make timely rental payments and were about to default on a \$250,000 balloon payment required to retain the lease. The Cato Defendants had rejected financing arrangements developed by the prospective minority shareholders, and Rainbow had become virtually insolvent.

By late 1994, Rainbow had few options for going forward. At that time, through contacts developed by some of the prospective minority shareholders, Rainbow was brought into contact with Columbia Sussex Corporation ("Columbia Sussex"), a company in the hotel management business, which was also interested in river gaming and which had a vessel available which could be a suitable casino. A transaction was arranged with the assistance of those minority shareholders in which a new entity would be formed. Columbia Sussex or its subsidiary would own 80% of the new entity, and Rainbow would own 20% by virtue of its contribution of the site lease to the new entity. However, before this new transaction could be consummated, it was necessary for Investor Resource and the Morellis to loan funds to Rainbow and to pledge shares of stock in publicly-traded companies to Greenville Marine in order to convince Greenville Marine to waive defaults under the site lease and to forebear from terminating the lease until the casino project could be completed.

Phase II began with the formation in January 1995 of Greenville Riverboat, LLC ("Greenville Riverboat") by Wimar Tahoe Corporation ("Wimar Tahoe"), a subsidiary of Columbia Sussex, and Rainbow. Greenville Riverboat, using funds provided by Columbia Sussex, built the Lighthouse Point Casino, its land-based facilities and a Fairfield by Marriott Hotel. No action was required from Rainbow in this phase. In fact, the LLC Agreement of Greenville Riverboat specifically prohibited Rainbow from taking any role in management of the casino.

On the other hand, at this time, it became apparent that there were significant debts from Phase I which had not been paid by Rainbow while it was under the management of the Cato Defendants. These included (a) professional service of fees of the two law firms that had represented Rainbow, (b) the professional service fees of the architect, (c) management fees of Premier Gaming, the gaming management company which had been brought in to develop the Pot-of-Gold project, (d) unpaid rent to Greenville Marine on the site lease, and (e) the promissory note due to certain minority shareholders for saving the lease from default. During Phase II, most of these creditors obtained judgments for unpaid services.

Under Wimar Tahoe's management, the Lighthouse Point Casino was opened and quickly became a success. By the year 2000, Greenville Riverboat repaid the indebtedness incurred to build the Casino. At this point, when it became clear that Greenville Riverboat was about to start generating income that would be available to be distributed to Rainbow, the creditors who had obtained judgments against Rainbow began to garnish funds due to Rainbow from Greenville Riverboat. Greenville Riverboat interpled over \$1 million into the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. These funds were eventually distributed

upon orders of United States District Judge Tom Lee to creditors to repay the debts which remained unpaid from Phase I, including those discussed in the previous paragraph.

Phase III began in January, 2001. As noted above, Greenville Riverboat was formed in early 1995, but it did not begin to generate sufficient income to distribute to Rainbow as a minority member until January, 2001. Prior to January, 2001, Rainbow had no income, but rather had net losses. Since that time, Rainbow's sole source of income has been the payments from its 20% equity ownership of Greenville Riverboat. After repayment of the indebtedness incurred by Wimar Tahoe in connection with the construction of the casino, and the payments to Rainbow's creditors through the interpleader, Greenville Riverboat has always generated positive earnings, resulting in fairly regular distributions (generally paid monthly) to Rainbow in respect of its 20% interest in the range of \$2 million per year. Receipt of these revenues requires no on-going management activity on the part of Rainbow, which is, by the terms of the Greenville Riverboat LLC Agreement, required to be an inactive member of that company.

Greenville Riverboat has paid Rainbow at least \$11.8 million in distributions since

January, 2001. R. 347-48. The Cato Defendants have declared and allegedly paid dividends of
\$.22 per share since then, or approximately \$2.2 million. R. 361-62. So then, Rainbow has
received income of approximately \$9.6 million beyond the distributions to the shareholders.

2. Current Financial Status of Rainbow

According to the most recent financial statements produced by the Defendants, as of June 30, 2006, Rainbow's management claimed that the company had assets of approximately \$3.8 million. Approximately \$1.5 million of this amount allegedly represents an investment by Rainbow in Emerald Star Casino and Resort, Inc., a separate Mississippi corporation substantially owned by Charles Cato. Also, approximately \$480,000 of Rainbow's assets

consists of payables resulting from loans to Charles and Marvin Cato. The financial statements reflect approximately \$280,000 in liabilities and approximately \$3.5 million in equity.

Therefore, since 2001, out of the \$9.4 million income received by Rainbow but not paid out in dividends, the Cato Defendants have expended approximately \$6.9 million of Rainbow's funds, and have lent just under \$2.0 million of Rainbow's funds, to themselves or other businesses that they own.

By and large, Rainbow has nothing to show as a result of any the expenditures made by the Cato Defendants. The vast majority of these funds were expended in self-dealing transactions which benefited one or more of the Cato Defendants to the detriment of Rainbow.

3. Dr. Glover's Expert Testimony.

The salient aspects of the Glover Report are as follows:

A. Dr. Glover's Qualifications. Dr. Glover is uniquely qualified to render opinions about the financial records of Rainbow, and the duties of its corporate officers, directors, and majority shareholders. She is Dean of the School of Business of Jackson State University. Dr. Glover received her B.S. from Tennessee State University, her M.B.A. in Accounting from Clark Atlanta University, and her J.D. from Georgetown University Law Center. She has been, and is presently, a Certified Public Accountant. R. 322, July 2007 Report at 1. She is also licensed to practice law. *Id*.

Dr. Glover is experienced in corporate audits, interpreting and verifying the accuracy of information in financial statements, reviewing business practices, and ensuring that financial systems and business models are applied in a precise manner for the underlying financial data of a corporation. R. 322-23, July 2007 Report at 1-2.

Also, Dr. Glover has significant experience in the private sector with respect to financial reporting and business transactions:

1976-79: Accountant with Arthur Andersen & Company

1979-85: Potomac Electric Power Company (Washington, DC)

1985-90: CFO and Executive VP for Metters Industries, Inc.

Dr. Glover then made a transition into full-time teaching at the university level:

1990-94: Assistant Professor of Accounting, Howard University (where she became Chair of the Accounting Department)

1994-present: Dean of School of Business, Jackson State University

During her teaching career, Dr. Glover has also served on the following boards of directors: the Student Loan Corporation, a publicly traded subsidiary of Citibank (where she has been Chair and Financial Expert for the Audit Committee), the Lenox Group, Regions Bank of Jackson, and the Jackson Airport Authority. R. 324, July 2007 Report at 3.

With regard to questions relating to the proper conduct of directors and officers in a corporation, Dr. Glover's testimony is based upon her personal experience. She has served as both the Chair of and the Financial Expert for the Audit Committee of the Student Loan Corporation, a publicly-traded subsidiary of Citibank. She has also served on the boards of directors of the Lenox Group, Regions Bank of Jackson, and the Jackson Airport Authority.

Dr. Glover's experience as a corporate director and her education qualifies her to testify that corporate officers, directors and majority shareholders violate their legal duties when they engage in self-dealing and when they waste corporate assets. Her exhaustive examination of Rainbow's books and records qualifies her to tell the jury in this case exactly how the Defendants accomplished the looting of millions of Rainbow's assets.

- B. Dr. Glover's Opinions About Self-Dealing Transactions. The vast majority of Dr. Glover's report is dedicated to her opinions with respect to what the Mississippi Business Corporation Act ("the Act") calls "director's conflicting interest transactions." Miss. Code Ann. §§ 79-4-8.60 et seq. These opinions, which bear the brunt of Defendant's attack, are as follows:
 - **Opinion 1**: "Rainbow directors, Marvin Cato and Charles Cato, acted improperly by making numerous payments to themselves allegedly in the form of loan repayments, payroll and expense reimbursements," R. 328-30, July 2007 Report at 7-9.
 - **Opinion 2**: "The Rainbow directors mismanaged and misused funds, improperly recorded transactions, and committed waste of the corporate assets," R. 330-32, July 2007 Report at 9-11.
 - **Opinion 5**: "Directors Marvin Cato and Charles Cato acted improperly in the payment of dividends and in making other disbursements," R. 334-35, July 2007 Report at 13-14.
 - **Opinion 6**: "Directors Marvin Cato and Charles Cato acted improperly and violated their fiduciary duties when they engaged in self-dealing," R. 335-36, July 2007 Report at 14-15.
- a) Dr. Glover's Data. The data relied upon by Dr. Glover for these opinions were the financial records of Rainbow and the various banks, financial institutions, and vendors who provided documents under subpoena. As pointed out above, the authenticity of these documents the underlying data for these sections of the Report was admitted by Rainbow. R. 408-19.

Dr. Glover was the only expert or lay witness who conducted a thorough review of Rainbow's financial statements, tax returns and bank records to determine the amount of income Rainbow has earned since 2001 and the amount and nature of the disbursements which the Cato Defendants have made from Rainbow's bank accounts. Because the Cato Defendants have not maintained appropriate financial controls and accounting records, Dr. Glover literally had to examine every single bank statement and all of the copies of cancelled checks that the Minority

Shareholders were able to obtain in discovery. Most of the schedules attached to her report are summaries of Rainbow's income and expenses. Having compiled this information, Dr. Glover identified the expenses that were, in her opinion, excessive and/or improper. R. 328-31, July 2007 Report at 7-10.

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