#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2007-IA-01458-SCT

# INVESTOR RESOURCE SERVICES, INC., A FLORIDA CORPORATION; BARBARA ARCHULETTA MORELLI, and THE ESTATE OF BERNECE RIGIROZZI

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

ŝ

i.

## MARVIN CATO, CHARLES CATO, LAVERNE CATO, and RAINBOW ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

**APPELLEES** 

#### APPELLEE'S BRIEF (Oral Argument is Requested)

On Interlocutory Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi (Civil Action No. CI-2004-251)

John H. Daniels, III, **DYER**, DYER, JONES & DANIELS Post Office Box 560 Greenville, MS 38702-0560 Telephone: (662) 378-2626 Facsimile: (662) 378-2672

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Appellants' Statement of the Issues is incorrect.

i.

,

i

ς.,

è

ί.

Ĺ

The question is not as the Appellants have framed it; the question is whether Glover is qualified to serve as an expert witness and did the lower court in excluding Glover abuse its judicial discretion when ruling upon an evidentiary question.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

We are before this Court on one single issue, one issue alone. That issue is whether or not Glenda B. Glover ("Glover") is qualified to give expert opinion in a shareholder's derivative action. The simple and straight forward answer to the question is an unqualified "NO."

Before we can and do explore the issues of Glover's admission as an expert there are several points that need to be made and addressed. The first, and not the least of which is the lower court's Order of August 20, 2007, excluding Glover as Appellants' derivative expert. R. 628-30; R.E. 1.

The Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi was presented with the Defendants/Appellees' Motion In Limine and/or to Exclude Plaintiffs' Expert Witness, Glenda B. Glover. R. 136-395; R.E. 6 (Motion only, no exhibits). Following the filing of the Appellees' In Limine Motion, the Appellants/Plaintiffs filed their response (R. 396-574) after which a hearing was conducted over a two-day period, August 13 and August 17, 2007. R.575-627.

Concluding a comprehensive examination of Appellees' and Appellants' Motions with attachments, after full disclosure and oral argument of the legal principles existing, the Circuit Court in its Order of August 20, 2007, concluded "...Glover is not qualified to

Ą

give expert testimony in the present case." R.628-30; R.E. 1.

The lower court judge opined as follows:

Having reviewed Glenda B. Glover's qualifications, this Court finds that although Ms. Glover's testimony may be relevant, Ms. Glover is not qualified to give expert testimony in the present case. This decision is based on Ms. Glover's lack of education, experience, and training in derivative actions, the lack of reliability of Ms. Glover's testimony, and the fact that Ms. Glover has held herself out to be a Certified Public Accountant in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §73-33-1.

\*\*\*

The Court finds Ms. Glover lacks sufficient education, experience, or training in the area of derivative actions. This fact is evidenced by her deposition testimony and in her reports in which she demonstrates a failure to understand how damages in derivative actions are distributed. This indicates a fundamental failure to grasp the very nature of a derivative action. The Court finds the *(sic)* Ms. Glover's lack of knowledge regarding derivative actions makes her testimony and opinions in this case unreliable.

\*\*\*

Based on the above determinations, the Court finds Ms. Glover fails to meet the standards set out *McLemore* and shall be excluded from giving expert testimony in this case.

It is, therefore:

ORDERED that the Defendants' Motion in Limine and/or to Exclude Plaintiffs' Expert Witness, Glenda B. Glover shall be and is hereby GRANTED.

R. 628-630; R.E. 1.

ĩ

ι

ς.

ł.

ì

Ĺ

Immediately following the Circuit Court's decision, the Appellants filed a

requested reconsideration of Judge Hines' ruling of August 20, 2007; after which the

lower court denied the reconsideration (R. 654-655; R.E. 4) and thereafter the

Appellants requested and were granted an interlocutory appeal to this Court on an

evidentiary finding.

4

i,

i

We now find ourselves before this Court on the (single) issue of Glover's ability to serve as an expert witness in this cause; which – this writer would add is an extremely complicated piece of litigation arising out of an alleged derivative claim brought by minority shareholders of Rainbow Entertainment, Inc. ("Rainbow"). لا

There are a number of considerations that this Court must keep in mind when determining questions of this type and kind.

Appellees will set forth the litany of those questions with supporting authority; after which an exhaustive review of Glover's qualifications and testimony (deposition and expert report) will be taken up.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT AND LAW

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for the admission or suppression (exclusion) of evidence/testimony is <u>abuse of discretion</u> (emphasis ours); *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So.2d 110 (Miss. 1999); *Whitten v. Cox*, 799 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2000); *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So.2d 948 (Miss. 2002); *Crane v. Kitzinger*, 860 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2003); *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004); *Tunica County v. Matthews*, 926 So.2d 209 (Miss. 2006); *International Paper v. Townsend*, 961 So.2d 741 (COA Miss. 2007); *Canadian National*, et al v. Hall, 953 So.2d 1084 (Miss. 2007) and *Watts v. Radiator Specialty*, 990 So.2d 143 (Miss. 2008).

In testing this "abuse of discretion" the decisions of our trial judges will stand "...unless [this court] concludes that the discretion was <u>arbitrary</u> and <u>clearly</u> erroneous,

amounting to an abuse of discretion. (Insert and emphasis ours). *Puckett v. State*, 737 So.2d 322 (Miss. 1999) and *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004); see also *Crane v. Kitzinger*, 860 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2003) and *Roberts v. Grafe*, 701 So.2d 1093 (Miss. 1997).

### **POSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT – GREAT DEFERENCE**

This Court places a heavy burden on trial judges in review of issues of this nature. On appeal this Court "...[will] give great deference to the discretion of the trial judges." (Insert ours). *Tunica County v. Matthews*, 926 So.2d 209 (Miss. 2006); *Crane v. Kitzinger*, 860 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2003).

This "great deference" afforded trial judges, while being a heavy burden to bear, is necessary given that trial judges are charged with providing a "filter" of information that ultimately might be imparted to the trier of fact. Moreover, this "great deference" is afforded trial judges as they are uniquely connected and able to weigh and judge the demeanor of witnesses and the impact that such testimony may have on the litigants and the ultimate outcome of the litigation.

#### EXPERT TESTIMONY

į

i,

۰,

ι

The reasoning behind these standards and the deference afforded trial judges by this Court is because of the position held by experts at trial, and the "sway" (if you will) that they (expert witnesses) have over the finder of fact – the jury.

A long history of this consequence is apparent in this Court's decisions; and, the net effect that a person of (alleged) greater educational standing may have over an average juror is clear, as well as the cautious nature of courts in preventing just anyone

from stepping up the "plate" and giving their opinion.

Eloquently stated the following is true:

Juries are often in awe of expert witnesses because, when the expert witness is qualified by the court, they hear impressive lists of honors, education and experience. An expert witness has more experience and knowledge in a certain area than the average person. Therefore, juries usually place greater weight on the testimony of an expert witness than that of a lay witness. D

Edmonds v. State, 955 So.2d 787, 792 (Miss. 2007). Being no exception, Dr. Levy's testimony about his education and experience covered five pages of transcript. This included his testimony that he attended Tufts College in Boston and Cornell Medical School in New York, and that he obtained a master's degree in public health from the Harvard School of Public Health. Because of the weight that is given to expert testimony, it is imperative that trial judges remain steadfast in their role as gatekeepers under the *Daubert* standard.

Watts v. Radiator Specialty, 990 So.2d 143, 147 (Miss. 2008).

#### GATEKEEPER

As such we have given our trial judges a new title, The Gatekeepers. In this role

our (circuit) trial court judges are afforded wide latitude and again much deference over

their decisions to either admit or to exclude expert testimony.

For the Court to be the arbiter of the validity of a given scientific theory is indeed

a heavy burden. As Judge Kozinski observed:

ł

L

Our responsibility....unless we badly misread the Supreme Court's opinion [in *Daubert*], is to resolve disputes among respected, well-credentialed scientists about matters squarely within their expertise, in areas where there is no scientific consensus as to what is and what is not 'good science,' and occasionally to reject such expert testimony because it was not 'derived by the scientific method.' Mindful of our position in the hierarchy of the federal judiciary, we take a deep breath and proceed with this heady task.

Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 43 F.3d 1311, 1316 (9th Cir. 1995).

Ultimately, the Court must "ensure that any and all scientific testimony or

evidence admitted is not only relevant, but reliable." Daubert v. Merrell Dow

Pharmaceutical, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). As such, the Court is the gatekeeper charged

with determining whether the expert's testimony is reliable and relevant enough to not

be junk science or mere paid for opinions. (Emphasis ours).

Moreover, and as amplified in Mississippi Transportation Commission v.

McLemore, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004):

The trial court's role as gatekeeper is not intended as a replacement for the adversary system. The admission of expert assessment of value must be cautiously determined because of the expert's critical role in the evaluation of the strong interests of both property owners and governments in just compensation.

\*\*\*

The Supreme Court clearly recognizes the gate keeping responsibility of the trial court to determine whether the expert testimony is relevant and reliable.

\*\*\*

The gatekeeping function of the trial court is consistent with the underlying goals of relevancy and reliability in the Rules.

In addition and as further amplified in Watts v. Radiator Specialty, 990 So.2d 143

(Miss. 2008) "because of the weight that is given to expert testimony, it is imperative that

trial judges remain steadfast in their role as gatekeepers under the Daubert standard."

Watts at 147. (Emphasis ours).

Δ

#### RULE 702, M.R.E.

Λ

In reviewing an expert's testimony, which may or can be accomplished in a

number of methods, the trial judge is not only guided but constrained by our Rules of

Evidence, Rule 703, MRE.

Mississippi adopted Rule 702, Mississippi Rules of Evidence, which states as

follows:

、

Testimony by Experts.

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness <u>gualified</u> as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. (Emphasis ours).

In addition, and very important to the inquiry, would be the official comments to

Rule 702 which state in part:

It is important to note that Rule 702 does not relax the <u>traditional standards for determining that the witness is</u> <u>indeed qualified to speak an opinion on a matter within a</u> <u>purported field of knowledge</u>, and that the factors mentioned in *Daubert* do not constitute an exclusive list of those to be considered in making the determination. (Emphasis ours).

### DAUBERT AND ITS PROGENY

The *Daubert* decision and Rule 702 must be considered in tandem – together.

The purpose of *Daubert* is to provide a "filter" for the gatekeeper (trial judge) in

construing an expert's testimony such as Glover and to conclude is the testimony

reliable, is it relevant, is the expert qualified; so forth and so on. The Daubert decision

and those decisions following *Daubert* have consistently been upheld by this Court. It is, therefore, the "gold standard."

In considering *Daubert* a trial judge has many factors that he or she can consider as the gatekeeper. These factors do not constitute an exhaustive list but should be consulted as the lower court judge did in the matter at bar.

Many factors must be considered in whether to open the gate to an expert.

These factors can be gathered in a review of Rule 26, M.R.C.P. as well as the primary

factor supported or suggested by Rule 702 M.R.E. As an aide in construing the

essentials of the aforementioned rules, and the requirements of Daubert, a number of

factors should be considered.

-

Ł

- (1) Did the expert submit a report?
- (2) Does the expert's report contain one or more of the following:
  - (a) a statement of opinions?
  - (b) basis and reasons therefor?
  - (c) data considered in forming the opinion?
  - (d) exhibits?
  - (e) qualifications?
  - (f) publications authored?
  - (g) compensation?
  - (h) other cases in which the expert has testified?
- (3) <u>Is the witness qualified by knowledge, skill, experience, training or</u> <u>education?</u> (Emphasis ours).
- (4) Is the testimony based on sufficient facts?
- (5) Is the testimony the product of reliable methods?
- (6) Did the witness supply those methods to the facts?
- (7) Can the theory or technique be challenged, or rather is it subjective, conclusory approach?
- (8) Has it been tested by other experts?

(9) Is there a sufficient gap between the facts and the opinion proffered?

Δ

(10) Was the expert as careful as he or she could be if applying the same theories and/or opinions to their regular work?

This analysis, while not complete, is a traditional analysis that would be applied in any Court, Mississippi or otherwise when testing an expert's opinion under Rule 702 (or otherwise) for relevancy, reliability (trustworthiness) and assistance to the trier of fact. See generally *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004).

> The testimony must be based upon sufficient facts or data; the testimony must be the product of reliable principles and methods; and, the witness must have applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

Richard J. Poole, et al v. William T. Avara, M.D., et al, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005).

Generally *Daubert* challenges appear in cases of scientific or highly technical subjects; subjects which have not been tested or areas of scientific specialty not generally accepted in their respective discipline. However, *Daubert* is likewise applied not only in these fields but in areas identical to the case-at-bar. See generally *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 836 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004), *Robert W. Webb*, *Jr.*, *et al v. Chris Braswell*, *et al*, 930 So.2d 387 (Miss. 2006). Conclusively *Daubert* is applied to all areas of expert inquiry of reliability, relevancy and qualification.

ί.

ł

Į.

#### **BURDEN UPON THE OFFERING PARTY**

In keeping with this Court's jurisprudence, it is the burden of the offering party who must sustain the admission of their expert witness.

The party offering the testimony must show that the expert based his opinion not on opinions or speculation, but rather on scientific methods and procedures.

Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 36 (Miss. 2004);

Tunica County v. Matthews, 926 So.2d 209, 213 (Miss. 2006).

Therefore, in the case-at-bar the Appellants were saddled with the burden of

satisfying the trial court that its expert witness was qualified, and that her opinions were

relevant and reliable.

In the matter presently before the Court the Appellants did not sustain that burden

and therefore the lower court was correct in excluding Glover as Appellants' expert

witness.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW AS TO QUALIFICATIONS OF THE EXPERT

The trial judge must pass upon whether or not the expert is qualified. Legions of decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals have confirmed this point; none better, however, than the decision reached in *International Paper Company v. Townsend*, 961 So.2d 741, 758 (Miss. 2007) stating as follows:

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